

REVIEW ARTICLE

King Saud University

Journal of the Saudi Heart Association

www.ksu.edu.sa www.sha.org.sa www.sciencedirect.com



Surgical treatment of functional mitral regurgitation in dilated cardiomyopathy

Hussein S. Al-Amri^a, Abdulrahman M. Al-Moghairi^{a,*}, Rieda M. El Oakley^b

^a Adult Cardiology Department, Prince Sultan Cardiac Centre, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ^b Department of Surgery, Benghazi Medical Centre, Benghazi, Libya

Received 9 March 2011; revised 7 April 2011; accepted 9 April 2011 Available online 16 April 2011

KEYWORDS

Cardiomyopathy; Functional mitral regurgitation; Heart failure

Abstract Functional mitral regurgitation is a significant complication of end-stage cardiomyopathy. Dysfunction of one or more components of the mitral valve apparatus occurs in 39-74% and affects almost all heart failure patients. Survival is decreased in subjects with more than mild mitral regurgitation irrespective of the aetiology of heart failure. The goal of treating functional mitral regurgitation is to slow or reverse ventricular remodelling, improve symptoms and functional class, decrease the frequency of hospitalization for congestive heart failure, slow progression to advanced heart failure (time to transplant) and improve survival. This article reviews the role of mitral valve surgery in patients with heart failure and dilated cardiomyopathy.

© 2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	126
2.	Mechanism of FMR	126
3.	Prevalence and implication of FMR in HF	127

Corresponding author. Address: Adult Cardiology Department, Prince Sultan Cardiac Centre (PSCC), Riyadh Military Hospital, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Mobile: +966 506276861; fax: +966 14778771. E-mail address: almoghairi@gmail.com (A.M. Al-Moghairi).

1016-7315 © 2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University. doi:10.1016/j.jsha.2011.04.001

Production and hosting by Elsevier E.S.A ELSEVIER



4.	Treatment of FMR in HF	127
5.	Percutaneous therapies.	129
6.	Recurrence of FMR	129
7.	Why benefit is so hard to find?	130
8.	Guidelines	130
9.	Conclusion	130
10.	Future challenges	131
]	Disclosures	131
]	References	131

1. Introduction

Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) is usually associated with variable degrees of functional mitral regurgitation with normal valve morphology (Strauss et al., 1987; Sabbah and Goldstein, 1993; Koelling et al., 2002; Trichon and O'Connor, 2002; Carabello, 2008). Mitral regurgitation (MR) imposes a haemodynamic load on the left ventricle (LV), which, along with the underlying cardiac injury, and in association with neurohormonal activation, results in negative ventricular remodelling, which is defined as alteration in the structure (dimensions, mass, shape) and function of the heart (Cohn et al., 2000; Dorn et al., 2003), which is characterized by progressive LV dilatation and a change to a more spherical shape (Sabbah and Goldstein, 1993; Tibavan et al., 2004). Remodelling accounts for most instances of severe MR (Levine and Schwammenthal, 2005; Beeri et al., 2008; Carabello, 2008; Neilan et al., 2008). Reversal of remodelling with both medical therapy and an LV assist device is associated with marked improvements in left ventricular function (LVF) in patients with advanced heart failure (HF) (Birks et al., 2006). However, there are no curative therapies specifically for the treatment of progressive LV dilation, which is one of the strongest predictors of mortality (Pfeffer et al., 1992; Pieske, 2004).

To-date, clinical studies have several limitations: almost all are retrospective, observational, and mostly single centre. They all suffer from potential referral, selection, ascertainment, and reporting biases and limited general application. Studies mingle patients with ischaemic and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy with patients undergoing simultaneous coronary artery bypass surgery.

Most studies have reported centre-specific techniques for repair. While it is clear that the failing ventricle would benefit from relief of severe MR, unanswered questions remain regarding appropriateness of patient selection, acceptable perioperative mortality, and long-term survival benefit. Does surgery alter the natural course of HF? Does it reduce mortality? When is the best time for surgery? How much does MR contribute to symptoms and disease progression?

It is still unclear in the absence of randomized trials evaluating MV surgery in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy and symptomatic heart failure when to intervene surgically.

2. Mechanism of FMR

The MV in FMR is morphologically thought to be "normal". However, some suggest that the MV in DCM is biochemically different from normal with extracellular matrix changes that are influenced by the altered cardiac dimensions. This remodelling suggests that MR in patients with HF may not be purely functional and that these valves are not "normal" (Grande-Allen et al., 2005). The MV apparatus is a complex structure composed of the mitral annulus, mitral leaflets, chordae tendinae, papillary muscles and the left ventricular and left atrial walls. A competent MV needs well coordinated function of all of these structures (Perloff and Roberts, 1972). FMR mostly results from dysfunction of one or more of these components. In DCM, ventricular dilatation causes MR through annular dilation, an increase in the interpapillary muscle distance, amplified leaflet tethering (elongation and stretch on the chordae tendinae because of cardiac enlargement) causing MV tenting, and decreased closing forces from muscle weakness and asynchrony of papillary muscle contractile timing (He et al., 1997; Yiu et al., 2000; Nielsen et al., 2002; Jimenez et al., 2003; Karagiannis et al., 2003). The final common pathway is a failure of coaptation and FMR (Spoor and Bolling, 2008). MR in these patients is primarily a function of distorted LV geometry rather than a primary valve problem and results primarily from tethering of the MV leaflets due to ventricular remodelling, specifically increased LV dilation and sphericity (Levine and Schwammenthal, 2005). It should be noted that contractile dysfunction alone in the absence of ventricular dilation or increased sphericity does not result in significant MR (Gaasch and Meyer, 2008). From a physiological point of view MR in these patients will lead to LV overload and reduction of forward stroke volume. This occurs initially in response to exercise and subsequently at rest, which in turn activates systemic and local neurohormonal systems, and cytokines that worsen cardiac loading conditions and promote negative LV remodelling and dysfunction (Mann, 1999). This might create a vicious cycle where FMR begets more FMR.

There are several predictors of FMR in DCM where MV tenting and tethering length is the most powerful predictor (Otsuji et al., 1997). Increased LV sphericity (Kono et al., 1992; Sabbah et al., 1992) annular dilation and reduced closing forces primarily "modify" tethering but are not the predominant mechanisms of MR (Levine and Schwammenthal, 2005). In the ACORN trial, LV diastolic dysfunction (LVDD) was found to play a significant role in the FMR development. The major determinant of MR severity was the tenting area, and this was best related to mitral annular area, which was strongly associated with left atrial (LA) volume. In addition, the LA volume index was highly correlated with LVDD. These findings suggest that LA enlargement caused by advanced dia-

stolic dysfunction may contribute to causing significant MR by augmenting mitral annular dilatation in DCM (Park et al., 2009).

3. Prevalence and implication of FMR in HF

FMR is a significant complication of end-stage cardiomyopathy and it may affect almost all heart failure patients as a pre-terminal or terminal event. In a Mayo Clinic series of 558 patients with the New York Heart Association (NYHA) class III-IV HF, 39% had moderate or greater MR (Starling, 2007; Patel et al., 2004). Patients with significant MR had higher mortality (p = 0.03). Koelling et al. (2002) retrospectively reviewed 1421 patients with systolic dysfunction and reported that significant FMR is present in 49% of patients with HF, 20% of patients exhibited severe MR with a consequent decrease in their 1- and 5-year survival rate (59% and 35%, respectively). Patient survival at a mean follow-up of 1 year varied inversely with MR grade (Koelling et al., 2002; Levine and Schwammenthal, 2005). Nieminen et al. evaluated 3580 patients hospitalized with acute heart failure in 133 centres and found moderate or severe MR in 43% (Nieminen et al., 2006). Robbins et al. (2003) reported that 45% of outpatients and 74% of hospitalized patients with HF had echocardiographic evidence of moderate to severe MR

Despite similar LV dimensions, patients with MR had an increased mortality compared to those without. In a Duke University series, Trichon et al. (2003) examined a cohort of 2057 patients with symptomatic HF (NYHA II-IV functional class) and noted 56.2% to have MR. 29.8% in the moderatesevere range. Survival was decreased in subjects with more than mild MR irrespective of the aetiology of HF. Survival rates at 1, 3, and 5 years were significantly lower in patients with moderate to severe MR versus those with mild or no MR (p < 0.001). MR was found to be an independent predictor of mortality and is reportedly an indicator of poor prognosis in patients with DCM (William Abraham and Waldo, 2006; Strauss et al., 1987; Blondheim et al., 1991; Conti and Mills, 1993; Otto, 2001; Koelling et al., 2002; Robbins et al., 2003; Trichon et al., 2003; Fukuda et al., 2005). In a further study of 130 patients awaiting transplantation, the 1-year survival was only 46%.

Significant independent predictors of death for these patients with idiopathic DCM were low forward stroke volumes, with an EF of less than 25%, and MR (Stevenson et al., 1987). Other predictors are episodes of heart failure, and increased LV end-diastolic volume (Anguita et al., 1993). Most patients with DCM die from heart failure despite improvements in medical therapy. The 1-year survival was 25% in a study of medically treated patients in NYHA class IV (Rose et al., 2001).

The question then is whether such patients have a worse prognosis because of the MR or because their ventricles are more intrinsically damaged to begin with. According to the updated ACC/AHA guidelines for managing patients with HF (Hunt, 2005), MR is a poor prognostic sign for patients with end-stage cardiomyopathy. Yamano et al. (2008) studied patients with FMR during exercise and concluded that FMR was significantly exacerbated during exercise, which was strongly related to their exercise intolerance, thus, the clinical impact of FMR in patients with DCM could be more serious than can be expected by its degree at rest.

Bursi et al. examined the independent prognostic role of FMR and its impact across the severity of CHF in a large population of outpatients with systolic HF. Four hundred and sixty-nine patients were followed-up for death and heart transplant according to severity of their FMR on baseline echocardiography. The 5-year transplant-free survival was 82.7% in patients with no or Grade I FMR, 64.4% in Grade II, 58.5% in Grade III, and 46.5% in Grade IV (p < 0.0001).

There was a strong association between FMR and the longterm risk of death and heart transplant. The association between FMR and events was strong and independent in patients with less severe symptoms and in those at a lower overall risk based on a propensity score analysis, while it was not significant in patients with more advanced CHF or in the high-risk subgroup. This study clarifies previous apparently discrepant results by demonstrating that FMR is an independent determinant of death and heart transplantation only in less severe CHF and in patients with a lower risk profile. This finding indicates that FMR plays a major role in the early phase of HF and should therefore be the focus of therapeutic strategies attempting to reduce it (Bursi et al., 2010).

4. Treatment of FMR in HF

There are several methods to reduce MR, including optimal medical therapy, treating arrhythmias, cardiac resynchronization therapy, cardiac passive, restraint or constraint devices, and MV surgery (Starling, 2007). Advances have been made with medical therapy and cardiac resynchronization but, despite such measures, outcomes remain poor in individuals with advanced HF (Rose et al., 2001). Surgical correction of MR is not performed frequently as a stand alone procedure in patients whose primary problem is a dilated failing heart (Enriquez-Sarano et al., 2008). Cardiac transplantation, the ultimate therapy for end-stage HF, is plagued by the limited supply of donor hearts and the need for lifelong immunosuppression (Hosenpud et al., 2000; Miller et al., 2007; Esmore et al., 2008). It was once thought that patients with LV dysfunction and MR would suffer if their MV were made competent as they would lose the pop-off effect of MR (reversal of blood flow was somehow beneficial to LV function). The high mortality in earlier studies appears mainly related to loss of LV function by disruption of the sub-valvular apparatus because valve replacement (rather than repair) was mostly performed. The "pop-off" effect has been disproved and MV repair has been found not to add to surgical mortality (Bolling, 2002).

MV repair (MVR), specifically mitral annuloplasty (MVA), has been proposed for selected patients with FMR due to systolic HF, although supportive data are limited to observational studies. Reduction of MR by MVA using partial or complete annuloplasty rings is accomplished by reducing the septallateral diameter of the annulus, with resulting improved leaflet coaptation.

Bolling and colleagues 1995 demonstrated that this approach was feasible and could be conducted with reasonably low morbidity. MVA using an undersized ring effectively corrects MR in HF patient and can safely be performed in patients even with the most compromised ventricles with an operative mortality of <5% and 75% one year survival

(Bolling et al., 1995; Bach and Bolling, 1996). Bishay et al. (2000) at the Cleveland Clinic, demonstrated an operative mortality of 2.3% in 44 patients with severe MR and severe LV dysfunction (EF < 35%) who underwent isolated MVR or replacement demonstrated reverse ventricular remodelling, improvement in NYHA functional class, and freedom from readmission for HF of 88%, 82%, and 72% at 1, 2, and 5 years, respectively, but the majority of the patients in this cohort have organic MR. These patients were also able to tolerate higher doses of medications after repair with 1, 2 and 5year survival rates of 89%, 86% and 67%, respectively. MV surgery offered symptomatic improvement and survival benefit in patients with severe LVD and MR and more use of this surgerv for FMR in DCM patients is warranted. As surgeons gained more experience and expertise with MVR, the surgical mortality improved substantially and the use of MVR for patients with DCM has become a reasonable option (Calafiore et al., 2001). In selected patients, MV surgery, specifically MVA, in which the sub-valvular apparatus is left intact can lead to reduced ventricular size, improved LVEF and HF symptoms (Rothenburger et al., 2002; Carabello, 2004), and high-risk MV surgery may be an alternative to heart transplantation in some patients, however, this is not documented or supported by current practice guidelines. Bolling (2002) reported in a landmark study from the University of Michigan in 140 patients with NYHA class III-IV and an EF < 25% who underwent a downsized MVA with an operative mortality of 5% that the 1- and 2-year actuarial survival was 80% and 70%, respectively (Bolling, 2002). This indicates that MVA is the current standard means of correcting MR associated with end-stage DCM (Bolling et al., 1995; Bach and Bolling, 1996; Bolling, 2002; Bax et al., 2004) and has been demonstrated to improve end-diastolic volume, LV performance, HF symptoms and exercise tolerance (Bolling et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1998; Konertz et al., 2001; Badhwar and Bolling, 2002a,b; Gummert et al., 2003; Romano and Bolling, 2003, 2004; Mehra and Griffith, 2005; Jessup et al., 2006). Szalay et al. (2003) compared a posterior MV annuloplasty using a flexible ring in 121 patients with significant FMR, ischaemic (75%) and non-ischaemic (25%) with an $EF \leq 30\%$ and found early mortality of 6.6%, which was equal for both groups and the improvement in NYHA class was equal between groups after 1 year. Hence, MVA is effective in patients with severely depressed LVF and has acceptable operative mortality and mid-term results which are superior to medical treatment alone and comparable to cardiac transplantation. Haan et al. in 2004 studied 727 patients (LVEF ≤ 0.30) who underwent MV surgery between 1998 and 2001 and found mortality was less than 2% for mitral MV repair (Haan et al., 2004; Gammie et al., 2007). Similar results were shown by the Mayo Clinic and Cleveland Clinic teams (Mahon et al., 2004; Ngaage and Schaff, 2004). Wu et al. performed a propensity analysis to compare MVA with medical therapy in patients with severe MR and advanced HF who underwent MVR (undersized ring) and a matched control group treated medically at the University of Michigan between 1995 and 2002 where they demonstrated 4.8% 30-day mortality with no clearly demonstrable mortality benefit conferred by MVA for significant MR with severe LV dysfunction or in the combined end-point of death, implantation of an LVAD, or urgent heart transplantation (Wu et al., 2005). A

study of 289 patients with an $EF \leq 30\%$ and FMR compared flexible and non-flexible undersized complete mitral annuloplasty rings which showed an operative mortality of 5% and less recurrence of MR with rigid rings (9.5% versus 2.5%), while in a 1-5-year survival, improvement of EF and NYHA class are comparable to others (Chen et al., 1998; Bishay et al., 2000; Bitran et al., 2001; Calafiore et al., 2001; Radovanovic et al., 2002; Spoor et al., 2006). THE RESTORE Group proposed a new surgical approach that consists of implantation of a mitral prosthesis that is smaller than the annulus with preservation and traction of the papillary muscles to reduce sphericity of the LV in end-stage cardiomyopathy. One hundred and sixteen patients with DCM underwent this procedure with the following aetiologic factors: ischaemic (68), idiopathic (43), Chagas disease (3), viral (1), and post-partum (1). All patients were in an end-stage phase requiring >2 hospital admissions over the past 3 months, despite receiving optimal medical therapy. They reported 16.3% hospital mortality and a relatively flat late survival curve with evidence of improved clinical status, better echocardiographic parameters, and reduction in ventricular sphericity (Buffolo et al., 2006). Recently, Geidel et al. reported that the early and late results of restrictive MVA in patients with chronic MR and advanced cardiomyopathy 3.3% 30-day mortality and 91% 12 months survival with no postoperative recurrence of significant MR (Geidel et al., 2008). Similarly, data from Germany showed 7.5% operative mortality and no differences in survival after MV repair or replacement indicating that high risk MV surgery in patients with cardiomyopathy and FMR offers a real mid-term alternative method of treatment for patients with drug refractory heart failure with similar survival in comparison to heart transplantation (Rukosujew et al., 2009). The most compelling data for the safety and efficacy of mitral valve repair for FMR comes from the MV surgery arm of the prospective Acorn trial (CorCap Cardiac Support Device, a prospective, randomized, multi-centre trial). The Acorn device is a knitted polyester sock that is drawn up and anchored over the ventricles in order to limit left ventricular dilation and remodelling and improve LVEF. Preliminary data suggest that the device produces an improvement in HF symptoms, EF, left ventricular end-diastolic dimension, and quality of life (Konertz et al., 2001; Shelton et al., 2005). The Acorn trial, showed a 98.4% 30-day survival rate, 2.1% repeat re-operation, and 85.2% 24 months survival and significant improvements in quality of life, exercise performance, and NYHA class. Furthermore, MV operations lead to improvement in LV volumes, mass, and shape. All consistent with reverse remodelling with considerable safety and efficacy (Acker et al., 2006; Grossi and Crooke, 2006; Mann et al., 2007). As a result, the improvement in LV structure and clinical function, along with a very low mortality rate, justifies strong consideration for offering MV surgery to heart failure patients who are on an optimal medical regimen. The outcomes do, however, support the hypothesis that patients with cardiomyopathy benefit from the surgical correction of the FMR. The results of this study add to a growing experience of clinical improvement with mitral valve repair (Bolling et al., 1998). Unfortunately, there is still considerable scepticism about the safety and efficacy of mitral valve surgery in patients with heart failure. The ACC/AHA guidelines published in 2005 stated that "surgical treatment

of FMR results in little, if any, survival benefit or reverse remodelling" and "it is possible that MVR for FMR reduces symptoms and improves exercise tolerance but conclusive data to support this hypothesis do not exist" (Hunt et al., 2005).

5. Percutaneous therapies

The potential for mechanical relief of MR without surgery has ignited much interest. There are two primary approaches to treating MR percutaneously: performance of an edge-to edge (Alfieri) repair with a clip or a suture which opposes the centres of the two mitral leaflets producing a double-barrel opening and reducing or eliminating MR while avoiding mitral stenosis (Webb et al., 2006), and insertion of a device in the coronary sinus to mimic the effects of a surgically-placed annuloplasty ring (Block, 2005; Feldman et al., 2005).

By inserting devices into the coronary sinus that mechanically alter its shape, the shape of the annulus is also altered, in turn helping to restore MV competence (Dubreuil et al., 2007; Gazoni et al., 2007). Early experience shows that these devices can be effective. However, there are several possible limitations to procedure. Firstly, the percutaneous techniques will need to be as efficacious, or nearly as efficacious, as traditional MVR surgery. Although early results may be very good for the percutaneous devices, their durability will need to be closely followed. Edge-to-edge procedures do not incorporate an MVA, an important determinant of durability in the Alfieri MVR technique (Maisano et al., 2003). Coronary sinus-based procedures do not account for the fact that the coronary sinus has no anatomical connections to the mitral annulus, which is in fact an intra-atrial structure, which may result in continued annular dilation and recurrent MR over time (Singh and Borger, 2005). Secondly, percutaneous MVR should not preclude the subsequent possibility of open surgical repair. Although conventional MVR early after failed percutaneous techniques has already been performed in several patients worldwide, it will be important to determine whether MVR surgery is still possible many months after a percutaneous procedure, when scar tissue and adhesions have formed. Thirdly, the risk in traditional MVR is very low. Several large, single-institution series (Bech-Hanssen et al., 2003; David et al., 2003; Matsumura et al., 2003; Enriquez-Sarano et al., 2005) have reported very low rates of operative mortality and morbidity in patients with non-ischaemic MR. The bar has therefore been set very high for percutaneous MV procedures. EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge Repair Study) phase 1 clinical trial (EVEREST I) (Feldman et al., 2005), was successfully completed after enrolment of 55 patients, demonstrating feasibility and initial safety of the device with a reduction in MR in a significant proportion of patients. EVEREST II, aimed to evaluate treatment with the percutaneous MitraClip device compared with conventional MV surgery among patients with severe MR and an EF > 25% who were candidates for MV surgery; major adverse events at 30 days occurred in 15% of the mitral clip group versus 48% of the control group (p < 0.01 for superiority). Clinical success rate at 12 months was 67% versus 74% (p = 0.05 for non-inferiority), respectively (Feldman et al., 2009), and 2 years result reported measurable improvement in LV volume and functional class (Feldman et al., 2011). At 1 year, the MitraClip device demonstrated meaningful clinical benefits for patients with significant MR including improvements in heart function, quality of life, normal physical activity, and a decrease in cardiac symptoms. In the primary effectiveness endpoint (freedom from death, surgery for MV dysfunction, and >2+ MR at 12 months), the MitraClip device was non-inferior to surgery at 1 year (clinical success rate of 72.4% for MitraClip patients with successful initial treatment compared to a clinical success rate of 87.8% for surgery patients). With 95% confidence, the clinical success rate of the MitraClip device falls within 25.4% of the clinical success rate of the surgical control. In the per-protocol group, 82% achieved 2+ or less mitral regurgitation versus 97% in the control group. NYHA class I or II at follow-up was 98% in the clip group versus 88% in the control group. Among patients with severe mitral regurgitation, repair with a percutaneous mitral valve clip was feasible. This therapy demonstrated improved safety at 30 days compared with surgery, largely by reducing the need for blood transfusion. The mitral valve clip was also non-inferior for effectiveness at 12 months. If the clip implantation proves to be feasible in high-risk and HF patients with severe LV dysfunction, even in those who do not match EVEREST or high-risk registry criteria because of low LVEF or large dimensions and, eventually, in patients that are not responding to cardiac resynchronization therapy, it could help to solve an important clinical problem. At the moment, the MitraClip device therapy appears a promising treatment option in patients with a clear indication for MVR. It also seems appropriate for heart failure patients with severe LV dysfunction, secondary functional MR, and a substantially dilated ventricle. The current European Society of Cardiology's guidelines recommend MV surgery in patients with HF whenever they have to get revascularized and only in selected patients with severe FMR and severely depressed LV function, who remain symptomatic despite optimal medical therapy (IIb, level C, recommendation) (Vahanian et al., 2007). It seems that elective surgical procedures for FMR are mainly necessitated by the heavy symptomatic burden of these patients. Thus, lacking a clear indication for surgical repair in high-risk surgical candidates, the MitraClip therapy might be an attractive, less invasive option for these patients with a major unmet clinical need.

6. Recurrence of FMR

Recurrent FMR is often explained away as being the result of a "ventricular problem". Then why do some patients with FMR manifest a benefit from alleviating their MR. We are faced with the question of whether the lack of benefit purely is the result of recurrence or is the recurrence of significant MR; a marker for a ventricle that has passed the point of no return. In FMR, previous reports document 17-29% prevalence of recurrent MR early or late postoperatively (Tahta et al., 2002; Spoor et al., 2006). However, the surgical approach in these series either used predominantly flexible or partial rings (Matsunaga et al., 2004; McGee et al., 2004; Kuwahara et al., 2006). In the more recent CorCap study (Acker et al., 2006) in which surgeons performed mitral valve annuloplasty with predominantly undersized rigid complete annuloplasty rings, recurrent MR was reassuringly uncommon with only 4% experiencing significant MR at 18-month followup. Several factors have been described to account for recurrent MR along with further LV remodelling and progressive LV failure. Recurrent MR is often due to progressive lateral displacement of the papillary muscles and attendant chordal tethering, severe displacement of the anterior muscle may be predictive of recurrence (Tahta et al., 2002). The data from the University of Michigan identified the use of flexible rings as a risk factor for recurrent MR (Miller, 2001; Spoor et al., 2006). Roshanali et al. (2007) pointed at an interpapillary muscle distance of >20 mm as a risk factor for recurrent MR after repair. Calafiore et al. considered tent height, defined as the distance between the mitral annulus and point of leaflet coaptation, >10 mm as a risk factor for failure after annuloplasty for IMR (Calafiore et al., 2004). The coaptation depth (CD) importance in FMR recurrence was debated where the isolated undersized mitral annuloplasty improved clinical symptoms and FMR in non-ischaemic DCM, while the pre-operative CD of 11 mm or more does not always predict recurrent MR after isolated undersized mitral annuloplasty for functional MR due to non-ischaemic DCM (Miura et al., 2008). The occurrence of reverse LV remodelling is associated with longer repair durability and a better clinical outcome compared to those with persistence or progression of the remodelling process (De Bonis et al., 2008). Lee et al. (2009) examined the Acorn trial data for the mechanisms of recurrent MR after MVR for non-ischaemic cardiomyopathy and found recurrent MR was associated with greater distal mitral anterior leaflet angle, greater coaptation depth and tenting area, larger LV volumes, and poorer LVEF. Hence, the post-operative mitral competence is highly dependent on distal anterior leaflet mobility.

7. Why benefit is so hard to find?

A positive impact on the mortality of correcting functional MR is not apparent from the existing clinical studies and may reflect inadequacies of the studies (retrospective, underpowered, poorly characterized patient subsets, absence of prospective core-lab controlled data). Symptomatic relief and functional improvement occurs in most patients although the difference versus alternative therapies is not dramatic in existing observational studies. Trials with ventricular remodelling as a surrogate endpoint will not resolve clinical effectiveness of mitral intervention. Although the investigation of Wu et al. (2005) suggests that patients receive little benefit from mitral valve annuloplasty, several questions are raised: even if the MR is corrected, the underlying muscle disease will still exist. This fact must contribute to worsened prognosis of secondary MR (Carabello, 2008). Is this lack of benefit because mitral valve surgery does not work or because a different surgical approach is needed? Is annuloplasty sufficient?

Are sub-annular, three-dimensional repairs required? We simply do not know. Well-designed, randomized controlled trials are warranted to resolve these issues. The respective roles of MV repair versus replacement in patients with advanced HF continue to evolve. Compared with patients undergoing MV replacement with chordal preservation, patients undergoing MVR have lower peri-operative mortality but a higher failure rate. Because most series to date have reported patients undergoing MV repair rather than replacement, the lack of demonstrated mortality benefit in MV surgery in advanced HF may reflect, in part, the less durable relief of MR afforded by MV repair rather than replacement. MR recurrence and operative mortality, counterbalance the benefit which is limited to specific patient subgroups that have not been predefined in the current data sets (aetiology, duration of MR, LVEF, functional class, etc.).

8. Guidelines

The lack of proven, long-term benefits of mitral valve repair or replacement for FMR is reflected in published guidelines from major societies. The 2005 ACC/AHA HF guidelines note that the effectiveness of MVR or replacement for severe secondary mitral regurgitation in refractory end stage HF is not established (Hunt et al., 2009). The 2006 Heart Failure Society of America (HFSA) practice guidelines note that isolated MVR or replacement for severe FMR in the presence of severe LV systolic dysfunction is not generally recommended (Heart Failure Society of America, 2006). The 2006 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) guidelines for cardiac transplant candidates notes that isolated MVR (not associated with revascularization or ventricular restoration) should not be routinely performed in patients with advanced LV dysfunction and HF (Jessup et al., 2006). The current updated ACC/AHA valve disease guidelines (Bonow et al., 2008) include an appropriately cautious, but generally supportive, recommendation for consideration of MV surgery in patients with advanced HF but only if MVR or MV replacement with chordal sparing are options. The authors conclude that "...even though such a patient is likely to have persistent LV dysfunction, surgery is likely to improve symptoms and prevent further deterioration of LV function". The ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic HF 2008, surgery for FMR may be considered in selected patients with severe FMR and severely depressed LVF, who remain symptomatic despite optimal medical therapy-class of recommendation IIb, level of evidence C (Dickstein et al., 2008).

9. Conclusion

Given the unproven long-term mortality benefit from MV surgery, treatment of FMR should emphasize optimal medical therapy of HF and, in appropriate patients, cardiac resynchronization therapy. MV surgery with current annuloplasty techniques in carefully selected patients with advanced heart failure should be considered before end-organ dysfunction becomes irreversible or right ventricular function becomes impaired, as such conditions increase the risk of operative intervention and impact on long-term outcomes. Taking in account the limitations, MV surgery may result in significant symptomatic and reverse remodelling benefit in patients with DCM and FMR, along with survival benefit comparable to cardiac transplantation.

Finally, MV surgery in DCM is an attractive treatment which may benefit many symptomatic patients with DCM and may be an alternative option to cardiac transplantation. The percutaneous MVR, MitraClip therapy, might be an attractive, less invasive option for these high risk patients. Its role in FMR treatment is yet to be proved.

10. Future challenges

Given the heterogeneity of remodelling, it is unlikely that a "one size fits all" option will evolve for the durable correction of severe MR in patients with advanced HF. Surgeons and interventional cardiologists will require a portfolio of options for more targeted, individualized repair of the annulus, leaflets, chordae, and the remodelled ventricle. Just as more elegant measures of myocardial reserve, more elegant measures of LV reverse remodelling may improve surgical outcome of severe MR in patients with advanced HF. Future measures of reverse remodelling viability may aggregate biomarkers, novel molecular imaging modalities, and genomic and proteomic assays of myocardial tissue. By echocardiography and MRI, patients with MR exhibit flattening of the annulus due to a reduction in the saddle-horn height. Such flattening may increase leaflet closing stress and contribute to MR. Standard annuloplasty rings are planar and do not conform to the normal saddle-shaped MV annulus. Development of three-dimensional annuloplasty rings with better conformation to the saddle-shaped annulus may provide additional reduction in leaflet closing stress and MR.

Disclosures

All authors have no conflict of interests to disclose.

References

- Acker, M.A., Bolling, S., et al., 2006. Mitral valve surgery in heart failure: insights from the Acorn Clinical Trial. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 132 (3), 568–577, e561–e564.
- Anguita, M., Arizón, J., Bueno, G., et al., 1993. Clinical and hemodynamic predictors of survival in patients aged 65 years with severe congestive heart failure secondary to ischemic or nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Cardiol. 72, 413–417.
- Bach, D.S., Bolling, S.F., 1996. Improvement following correction of secondary mitral regurgitation in end-stage cardiomyopathy with mitral annuloplasty. Am. J. Cardiol. 78 (8), 966–969.
- Badhwar, V., Bolling, S.F., 2002a. Mitral valve surgery in the patient with left ventricular dysfunction. Semin. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 14 (2), 133–136.
- Badhwar, V., Bolling, S.F., 2002b. Mitral valve surgery: when is it appropriate? Congest. Heart Fail. 8 (4), 210–213.
- Bax, J.J., Braun, J., et al., 2004. Restrictive annuloplasty and coronary revascularization in ischemic mitral regurgitation results in reverse left ventricular remodeling.. Circulation 110 (11 Suppl. 1), II103–II108.
- Bech-Hanssen, O., Ryden, T., Schersten, H., Oden, A., Nilsson, F., Jeppsson, A., 2003. Mortality after mitral regurgitation surgery: importance of clinical and echocardiographic variables. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 24, 723–730.
- Beeri, R., Yosefy, C., et al., 2008. Mitral regurgitation augments post-myocardial infarction remodeling failure of hypertrophic compensation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51 (4), 476–486.
- Birks, E.J., Tansley, P.D., et al., 2006. Left ventricular assist device and drug therapy for the reversal of heart failure. N. Engl. J. Med. 355 (18), 1873–1884.
- Bishay, E.S., McCarthy, P.M., et al., 2000. Mitral valve surgery in patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 17 (3), 213–221.
- Bitran, D., Merin, O., et al., 2001. Mitral valve repair in severe ischemic cardiomyopathy. J. Card. Surg. 16 (1), 79–82.

- Block, P.C., 2005. Percutaneous mitral valve repair: are they changing the guard? Circulation 111 (17), 2154–2156.
- Blondheim, D.S., Jacobs, L.E., et al., 1991. Dilated cardiomyopathy with mitral regurgitation: decreased survival despite a low frequency of left ventricular thrombus. Am. Heart J. 122 (3 Pt. 1), 763–771.
- Bolling, S.F., 2002. Mitral reconstruction in cardiomyopathy. J. Heart Valve Dis. 11 (Suppl. 1), S26–S31.
- Bolling, S.F., Deeb, G.M., et al., 1995. Early outcome of mitral valve reconstruction in patients with end-stage cardiomyopathy. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 109 (4), 676–682, discussion 682–683.
- Bolling, S.F., Pagani, F.D., et al., 1998. Intermediate-term outcome of mitral reconstruction in cardiomyopathy. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 115 (2), 381–386, discussion 387–388.
- Bonow, R.O., Carabello, B.A., et al., 2008. 2008 focused update incorporated into the ACC/AHA 2006guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to revise the 1998 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease) Endorsed by the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52 (13), e1–e142.
- Buffolo, Eno, Branco, João Nelson R., Catani, Roberto, and the RESTORE Group, 2006. End-stage cardiomyopathy and secondary mitral insufficiency surgical alternative with prosthesis implant and left ventricular restoration. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 29 (Suppl. 1), S266–S271.
- Bursi, F., Barbieri, A., et al., 2010. Prognostic implications of functional mitral regurgitation according to the severity of the underlying chronic heart failure: a long-term outcome study. Eur. J. Heart Fail. 12, 382–388.
- Calafiore, A.M., Gallina, S., et al., 2001. Mitral valve procedure in dilated cardiomyopathy: repair or replacement? Ann. Thorac. Surg. 71 (4), 1146–1152, discussion 1152–1153.
- Calafiore, A.M., Di Mauro, M., et al., 2004. Mitral valve surgery for chronic ischemic mitral regurgitation. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 77 (6), 1989–1997.
- Carabello, B.A., 2004. Is it ever too late to operate on the patient with valvular heart disease? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 44 (2), 376–383.
- Carabello, B.A., 2008. The current therapy for mitral regurgitation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52 (5), 319–326.
- Chen, F.Y., Adams, D.H., et al., 1998. Mitral valve repair in cardiomyopathy. Circulation 98 (19 Suppl.), II124–II127.
- Cohn, J.N., Ferrari, R., et al., 2000. Cardiac remodeling—concepts and clinical implications: a consensus paper from an international forum on cardiac remodeling Behalf of an International Forum on Cardiac Remodeling. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 35 (3), 569–582.
- Conti, J.B., Mills Jr., R.M., 1993. Mitral regurgitation and death while awaiting cardiac transplantation. Am. J. Cardiol. 71 (7), 617–618.
- David, T.E., Ivanov, J., Armstrong, S., Rakowski, H., 2003. Late outcomes of mitral valve repair for floppy valves: implications for asymptomatic patients. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 125, 1143– 1152.
- De Bonis, M., Lapenna, E., et al., 2008. Recurrence of mitral regurgitation parallels the absence of left ventricular reverse remodeling after mitral repair in advanced dilated cardiomyopathy. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 85 (3), 932–939.
- Dickstein, K., Cohen-Solal, A., et al., 2008. ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). Eur. Heart J. 29 (19), 2388–2442.

Dorn II, G.W., Robbins, J., et al., 2003. Phenotyping hypertrophy: eschew obfuscation. Circ. Res. 92 (11), 1171–1175.

- Dubreuil, O., Basmadjian, A., et al., 2007. Percutaneous mitral valve annuloplasty for ischemic mitral regurgitation: first in man experience with a temporary implant. Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv. 69 (7), 1053–1061.
- Enriquez-Sarano, M., Avierinos, J., Messika-Zeitoun, D., et al., 2005. Quantitative determinants of the outcome of asymptomatic mitral regurgitation. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 875–883.
- Enriquez-Sarano, M., Loulmet, D.F., et al., 2008. The conundrum of functional mitral regurgitation in chronic heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51 (4), 487–489.
- Esmore, D.S., Kaye, D., et al., 2008. Initial clinical experience with the VentrAssist left ventricular assist device: the pilot trial. J. Heart Lung Transplant. 27 (5), 479–485.
- Feldman, T., Wasserman, H.S., et al., 2005. Percutaneous mitral valve repair using the edge-to-edge technique: six-month results of the EVEREST Phase I Clinical Trial. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46 (11), 2134–2140.
- Feldman, T., Kar, S., et al., 2009. Percutaneous mitral repair with the MitraClip system: safety and midterm durability in the initial EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge REpair Study) cohort. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54 (8), 686–694.
- Feldman, T., Foster, E., et al., 2011. Percutaneous Repair or Surgery for Mitral Regurgitation. N. Engl. J. Med. 364, 1395–1406.
- Fukuda, S., Grimm, R., et al., 2005. Electrical conduction disturbance effects on dynamic changes of functional mitral regurgitation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46 (12), 2270–2276.
- Gaasch, W.H., Meyer, T.E., 2008. Left ventricular response to mitral regurgitation: implications for management. Circulation 118 (22), 2298–2303.
- Gammie, J.S., O'Brien, S.M., et al., 2007. Influence of hospital procedural volume on care process and mortality for patients undergoing elective surgery for mitral regurgitation. Circulation 115 (7), 881–887.
- Gazoni, L.M., Kern, J.A., et al., 2007. A change in perspective: results for ischemic mitral valve repair are similar to mitral valve repair for degenerative disease. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 84 (3), 750–757, discussion 758.
- Geidel, S., Lass, M., et al., 2008. Early and late results of restrictive mitral valve annuloplasty in 121 patients with cardiomyopathy and chronic mitral regurgitation. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 56 (5), 262–268.
- Grande-Allen, K.J., Borowski, A.G., et al., 2005. Apparently normal mitral valves in patients with heart failure demonstrate biochemical and structural derangements: an extracellular matrix and echocardiographic study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 45 (1), 54–61.
- Grossi, E.A., Crooke, G.A., 2006. Mitral valve surgery in heart failure: insights from the Acorn clinical trial. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 132 (3), 455–456.
- Gummert, J.F., Rahmel, A., et al., 2003. Mitral valve repair in patients with end stage cardiomyopathy: who benefits? Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 23 (6), 1017–1022, discussion 1022.
- Haan, C.K., Cabral, C.I., et al., 2004. Selecting patients with mitral regurgitation and left ventricular dysfunction for isolated mitral valve surgery. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 78 (3), 820–825.
- He, S., Fontaine, A.A., et al., 1997. Integrated mechanism for functional mitral regurgitation leaflet restriction versus coapting force in vitro studies. Circulation 96 (6), 1826–1834.
- Heart Failure Society of America, 2006. HFSA 2006 comprehensive heart failure practice guideline. J. Card. Fail. 12 (1), e1–e2.
- Hosenpud, J.D., Bennett, L.E., et al., 2000. The registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: seventeenth official report-2000. J. Heart Lung Transplant. 19 (10), 909– 931.
- Hunt, S.A., 2005. ACC/AHA 2005 guideline update for the diagnosis and management of chronic heart failure in the adult: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association

Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure). J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46 (6), e1–e82.

- Hunt, S.A., Abraham, W.T., et al., 2005. ACC/AHA 2005 Guideline Update for the Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Heart Failure in the Adult: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure): developed in collaboration with the American College of Chest Physicians and the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society. Circulation 112 (12), e154– e235.
- Hunt, S.A., Abraham, W.T., et al., 2009. 2009 focused update incorporated into the ACC/AHA 2005 Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Heart Failure in Adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: developed in collaboration with the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. Circulation 119 (14), e391–e479.
- Jessup, M., Banner, N., et al., 2006. Optimal pharmacologic and non-pharmacologic management of cardiac transplant candidates: approaches to be considered prior to transplant evaluation: International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation guidelines for the care of cardiac transplant candidates—2006. J. Heart Lung Transplant. 25 (9), 1003–1023.
- Jimenez, J.H., Soerensen, D.D., et al., 2003. Effects of a saddle shaped annulus on mitral valve function and chordal force distribution: an in vitro study. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 31 (10), 1171–1181.
- Karagiannis, S.E., Karatasakis, G.T., et al., 2003. Increased distance between mitral valve coaptation point and mitral annular plane: significance and correlations in patients with heart failure. Heart 89 (10), 1174–1178.
- Koelling, T.M., Aaronson, K.D., et al., 2002. Prognostic significance of mitral regurgitation and tricuspid regurgitation in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Am. Heart J. 144 (3), 524–529.
- Konertz, W.F., Shapland, J.E., et al., 2001. Passive containment and reverse remodeling by a novel textile cardiac support device. Circulation 104 (12 Suppl. 1), 1270–1275.
- Kono, T., Sabbah, H.N., et al., 1992. Left ventricular shape is the primary determinant of functional mitral regurgitation in heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 20 (7), 1594–1598.
- Kuwahara, E., Otsuji, Y., et al., 2006. Mechanism of recurrent/ persistent ischemic/functional mitral regurgitation in the chronic phase after surgical annuloplasty: importance of augmented posterior leaflet tethering. Circulation 114 (1 Suppl.), I529– I534.
- Lee, A.P., Acker, M., et al., 2009. Mechanisms of recurrent functional mitral regurgitation after mitral valve repair in nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: importance of distal anterior leaflet tethering. Circulation 119 (19), 2606–2614.
- Levine, R.A., Schwammenthal, E., 2005. Ischemic mitral regurgitation on the threshold of a solution: from paradoxes to unifying concepts. Circulation 112 (5), 745–758.
- Mahon, N.G., O'Neill, J.O., et al., 2004. Contemporary outcomes of outpatients referred for cardiac transplantation evaluation to a tertiary heart failure center impact of surgical alternatives. J. Card. Fail. 10 (4), 273–278.
- Maisano, F., Caldarola, A., et al., 2003. Midterm results of edge-toedge mitral valve repair without annuloplasty. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 126 (6), 1987–1997.
- Mann, D.L., 1999. Mechanisms and models in heart failure. A combinatorial approach. Circulation 100, 999–1008.
- Mann, D.L., Acker, M.A., et al., 2007. Clinical evaluation of the CorCap Cardiac Support Device in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 84 (4), 1226–1235.

- Matsumura, T.O.E., Tanaka, K., et al., 2003. Echocardiographic prediction of left ventricular dysfunction after mitral valve repair for mitral regurgitation as an indicator to decide the optimal timing of repair. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42, 458–463.
- Matsunaga, A., Tahta, S.A., et al., 2004. Failure of reduction annuloplasty for functional ischemic mitral regurgitation. J. Heart Valve Dis. 13 (3), 390–397, discussion 397–398.
- McGee, E.C., Gillinov, A.M., et al., 2004. Recurrent mitral regurgitation after annuloplasty for functional ischemic mitral regurgitation. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 128 (6), 916–924.
- Mehra, M.R., Griffith, B.P., 2005. Is mitral regurgitation a viable treatment target in heart failure? The plot just thickened. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 45 (3), 388–390.
- Miller, D.C., 2001. Ischemic mitral regurgitation redux—to repair or to replace? J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 122 (6), 1059–1062.
- Miller, L.W., Pagani, F.D., et al., 2007. Use of a continuous-flow device in patients awaiting heart transplantation. N. Engl. J. Med. 357 (9), 885–896.
- Miura, T., Eishi, K., et al., 2008. Isolated undersized mitral annuloplasty for functional mitral regurgitation in non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: reconsideration of the relationship between preoperative coaptation depth and persistent mitral regurgitation. Circ. J. 72 (11), 1744–1750.
- Neilan, T.G., Ton-Nu, T.T., et al., 2008. Progressive nature of chronic mitral regurgitation and the role of tissue Doppler-derived indexes. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 294 (5), H2106– H2111.
- Ngaage, D.L., Schaff, H.V., 2004. Mitral valve surgery in nonischemic cardiomyopathy. J. Cardiovasc. Surg. (Torino) 45 (5), 477–486.
- Nielsen, S.L., Nygaard, H., et al., 2002. Mechanism of incomplete mitral leaflet coaptation—interaction of chordal restraint and changes in mitral leaflet coaptation geometry. Insight from in vitro validation of the premise of force equilibrium. J. Biomech. Eng. 124 (5), 596–608.
- Nieminen, M.S., Brutsaert, D., et al., 2006. EuroHeart Failure Survey II (EHFS II): a survey on hospitalized acute heart failure patients: description of population. Eur. Heart J. 27 (22), 2725– 2736.
- Otsuji, Y., Handschumacher, M.D., et al., 1997. Insights from threedimensional echocardiography into the mechanism of functional mitral regurgitation: direct in vivo demonstration of altered leaflet tethering geometry. Circulation 96 (6), 1999–2008.
- Otto, C.M., 2001. Clinical practice. Evaluation and management of chronic mitral regurgitation. N. Engl. J. Med. 345 (10), 740– 746.
- Park, S.M., Park, S.W., et al., 2009. Diastolic dysfunction and left atrial enlargement as contributing factors to functional mitral regurgitation in dilated cardiomyopathy: data from the Acorn trial. Am. Heart J. 157 (4), 762.e3–10.
- Patel, J.B., Borgeson, D.D., et al., 2004. Mitral regurgitation in patients with advanced systolic heart failure. J. Card. Fail. 10 (4), 285–291.
- Perloff, J.K., Roberts, W.C., 1972. The mitral apparatus. Functional anatomy of mitral regurgitation. Circulation 46 (2), 227–239.
- Pfeffer, M.A., Braunwald, E., et al., 1992. Effect of captopril on mortality and morbidity in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Results of the survival and ventricular enlargement trial. The SAVE Investigators. N. Engl. J. Med. 327 (10), 669–677.
- Pieske, B., 2004. Reverse remodeling in heart failure—fact or fiction? Eur. Heart J. 6 (Suppl. D), 55–78.
- Radovanovic, N., Mihajlovic, B., et al., 2002. Reductive annuloplasty of double orifices in patients with primary dilated cardiomyopathy. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 73 (3), 751–755.
- Robbins, J.D., Maniar, P.B., et al., 2003. Prevalence and severity of mitral regurgitation in chronic systolic heart failure. Am. J. Cardiol. 91 (3), 360–362.

- Romano, M.A., Bolling, S.F., 2003. Mitral valve repair as an alternative treatment for heart failure patients. Heart Fail. Monit. 4 (1), 7–12.
- Romano, M.A., Bolling, S.F., 2004. Update on mitral repair in dilated cardiomyopathy. J. Card. Surg. 19 (5), 396–400.
- Rose, E.A., Gelijns, A.C., et al., 2001. Long-term mechanical left ventricular assistance for end-stage heart failure. N. Engl. J. Med. 345 (20), 1435–1443.
- Roshanali, F., Mandegar, M.H., et al., 2007. A prospective study of predicting factors in ischemic mitral regurgitation recurrence after ring annuloplasty. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 84 (3), 745–749.
- Rothenburger, M., Rukosujew, A., et al., 2002. Mitral valve surgery in patients with poor left ventricular function. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 50 (6), 351–354.
- Rukosujew, A., Klotz, S., et al., 2009. Surgery of secondary mitral insufficiency in patients with impaired left ventricular function. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 4, 36.
- Sabbah, H.N., Goldstein, S., 1993. Ventricular remodelling: consequences and therapy. Eur. Heart J. 14 (Suppl. C), 24–29.
- Sabbah, H.N., Kono, T., et al., 1992. Left ventricular shape changes during the course of evolving heart failure. Am. J. Physiol. 263 (1 Pt. 2), H266–H270.
- Shelton, R.J., Velavan, P., et al., 2005. Clinical trials update from the American Heart Association meeting: ACORN-CSD, primary care trial of chronic disease management, PEACE, CREATE, SHIELD, A-HeFT, GEMINI, vitamin E meta-analysis, ESCAPE, CARP, and SCD-HeFT costeffectiveness study. Eur. J. Heart Fail. 7 (1), 127–135.
- Singh, S.K., Borger, M.A., 2005. Percutaneous valve replacement: fact or fiction? Can. J. Cardiol. 21 (10), 829–832.
- Spoor, M.T., Bolling, S.F., 2008. Nontransplant surgical options for heart failure. In: Cohn, L.H. (Ed.), Cardiac Surgery in the Adult. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Spoor, M.T., Geltz, A., et al., 2006. Flexible versus nonflexible mitral valve rings for congestive heart failure: differential durability of repair. Circulation 114 (1 Suppl.), I67–I71.
- Starling, R.C., 2007. Dilated cardiomyopathy and mitral regurgitation: when to operate? ACC Annual Scientific Session 2007, Rapid News Summaries, Cardiosource.
- Stevenson, L.W., Fowler, M.B., et al., 1987. Poor survival of patients with idiopathic cardiomyopathy considered too well for transplantation. Am. J. Med. 83 (5), 871–876.
- Strauss, R.H., Stevenson, L.W., et al., 1987. Predictability of mitral regurgitation detected by Doppler echocardiography in patients referred for cardiac transplantation. Am. J. Cardiol. 59 (8), 892–894.
- Szalay, Z.A., Civelek, A., et al., 2003. Mitral annuloplasty in patients with ischemic versus dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 23 (4), 567–572.
- Tahta, S.A., Oury, J.H., et al., 2002. Outcome after mitral valve repair for functional ischemic mitral regurgitation. J. Heart Valve Dis. 11 (1), 11–18, discussion 18–19.
- Tibayan, F.A., Rodriguez, F., et al., 2004. Undersized mitral annuloplasty alters left ventricular shape during acute ischemic mitral regurgitation. Circulation 110 (11 Suppl. 1), II98–II102.
- Trichon, B.H., O'Connor, C.M., 2002. Secondary mitral and tricuspid regurgitation accompanying left ventricular systolic dysfunction: is it important, and how is it treated? Am. Heart J. 144 (3), 373–376.
- Trichon, B.H., Felker, G.M., et al., 2003. Relation of frequency and severity of mitral regurgitation to survival among patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction and heart failure. Am. J. Cardiol. 91 (5), 538–543.
- Vahanian, A., Baumgartner, H., et al., 2007. Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease: The Task Force on the Management of Valvular Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur. Heart J. 28 (2), 230–268.
- Webb, J.G., Harnek, J., et al., 2006. Percutaneous transvenous mitral annuloplasty: initial human experience with device implantation in the coronary sinus. Circulation 113 (6), 851–855.

- William Abraham, M., Waldo, A., 2006. Device therapy in heart failure: which device, which patient? AHA Scientific Sessions 2006, Cardiosource, Rapid News Summaries
- Wu, A.H., Aaronson, K.D., et al., 2005. Impact of mitral valve annuloplasty on mortality risk in patients with mitral regurgitation and left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 45 (3), 381–387.
- Yamano, T., Nakatani, S., et al., 2008. Exercise-induced changes of functional mitral regurgitation in asymptomatic or mildly symp-

tomatic patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Cardiol. 102 (4), 481-485.

Yiu, S.F., Enriquez-Sarano, M., et al., 2000. Determinants of the degree of functional mitral regurgitation in patients with systolic left ventricular dysfunction: a quantitative clinical study. Circulation 102 (12), 1400–1406.